067

**FILED**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

NOV 4 1997

JOE L. MOBLEY,

Petitioner, :

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

Case No. 91,528

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_\_ :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA  
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

✓ AUSTIN H. MASLANIK  
Assistant Public Defender  
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0258520

Public Defender's Office  
Polk County Courthouse  
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD  
Bartow, FL 33831  
(941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Joe L. Mobley, Appellant, was charged by information on January 12, 1996, by the Office of the State Attorney, Twentieth Judicial Circuit, with dealing in stolen property, in violation of Section 812.019(1), Florida Statutes (1995); and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, in violation of Section 790.23, Florida Statutes (1995) (Case No. 95-969CF). (VI, R18-19) These second degree felonies occurred between and including the dates of November 12, 1995, and December 15, 1995. (VI, R18-19)

Mr. Mobley was also charged by information on March 4, 1996, by the Office of the State Attorney, Twentieth Judicial Circuit, with battery on a law enforcement officer, in violation of Section 784.07, Florida Statutes (1995); and resisting an officer with violence, in violation of Section 843.01, Florida Statutes (1995) (Case No. 96-91CF). (VI, R2-3) These third degree felonies occurred on January 30, 1996. (VI, R2-3)

Additionally, Mr. Mobley was charged with violation of probation in two other cases (Case Nos. 94-786CF and 95-236CF). (VI, R 49, 52-53, 89, 92-93)

On April 23, 1996, Mr. Mobley and the state entered into a plea agreement and was sentenced, (VI, R4-6, 21-23,133-152) The plea agreement consisted of the following: the state nolle prossed the offenses of dealing in stolen property (Case No. 95-969CF) and battery on a law enforcement officer (Case No.96-91CF); Mr. Mobley entered a plea of no contest to possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Case No. 95-969CF) and resisting an officer with

violence (Case No. 96-91CF); Mr. Mobley admitted to the violations of probation (Case Nos. 94-786CF and 95-236CF); Mr. Mobley was to be sentenced to 37.5 months in prison on the two new offenses to run concurrent with each other; Mr. Mobley was allowed to reserve the right to appeal the scoring of eighteen points for possession of a firearm on the guidelines scoresheet; and Mr. Mobley was sentenced to 15.6 months in prison on the violations of probation to run concurrent with each other as well as with the prison sentence on the new charges.

On April 24, 1996, Mr. Mobley filed a timely notice of appeal. (VI, R114-115)

On September 24, 1997, the Second District Court of Appeal issued an opinion affirming Mr. Mobley's sentence. However, the Second District Court of Appeal certified a conflict with Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). (See Appendix) The issue certified in Mr. Mobley's case is the same issue currently pending before this Court in White v. State, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), rev. granted, 696 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 1997)

On September 30, 1997, Mr. Mobley filed his "Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction." On October 8, 1997, this Court issued its "Order Postponing Decision On Jurisdiction And Briefing Schedule."

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner, Joe L. Mobley, was convicted in the trial court of the offense of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.

The trial court included eighteen points on the guidelines scoresheet for possession of a firearm. This resulted in Mr. Mobley being sentenced to an additional eighteen months in Florida State Prison.

Possession of a firearm is an essential element of the crime for which Mr. Mobley was convicted. Scoring eighteen points for possession of a firearm in this instance is a violation of the double jeopardy protections of both the United States and Florida Constitutions.

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court, but certified a conflict between its decision and the Fourth District Court of Appeals decision in Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Mr. Mobley believes that this Court should reverse the Second District Court of Appeal because the scoring of the eighteen points in his case is a violation of double jeopardy principles. In the alternative, Mr. Mobley believes that this Court should adopt the reasoning of Galloway and construe Rule 3.703 (d)(19) to be inapplicable in his case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY ASSESSING EIGHTEEN POINTS ON THE GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR POSSESSION OF A FIREARM WHEN A FIREARM IS ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME FOR WHICH PETITIONER WAS BEING SENTENCED?

Mr. Mobley was sentenced under the 1995 Revised Guidelines. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.703(d)(19) **allows** the addition of eighteen points for predicate felonies involving firearms in the following language:

Possession of a firearm, destructive device, semiautomatic weapon, or a machine gun during the commission or attempt to commit a crime will result in additional sentence points. Eighteen sentence points shall be assessed where the defendant is convicted of committing or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 775.087(2) while having in his or her possession a firearm as defined in 790.001(6)....

The offenses enumerated in Section 775.087(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1995), are the following: murder, sexual battery, robbery, burglary, arson, aggravated assault, aggravated battery, kidnapping, escape, breaking and entering with intent to commit a felony, an attempt to commit any of the aforementioned crimes, or any battery upon a law enforcement officer or firefighter.

The offense for which Mr. Mobley was convicted, possession of a firearm by a felon, is not among the enumerated felonies in Section 775.087(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1995). Nevertheless, Mr.

Mobley believes that the eighteen points should not be scored because a firearm is an essential element of the **crime** for which he was convicted. The eighteen points should not be scored in this instance because it would be a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

In the alternative, Mr. Mobley requests that this Court follow the reasoning of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In Galloway, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected the double jeopardy argument, but held that they construed Rule 3.702(d)(12) (which is identical to Rule 3.703 (d) (19)) to be inapplicable to convictions for carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon when the convictions were unrelated to the commission of any additional substantive offense. Galloway, 680 So. 2d at 617.

In Galloway, the Fourth District Court of Appeal placed importance on the language of Rule 3.702(d)(12) that provided assessment of the eighteen points when convicted of a felony "while having in his or her possession a firearm." (Emphasis added.) Galloway, 680 So. 2d at 617. This led the Galloway Court to rule that where the only felonies that a defendant was convicted of were offenses in which a firearm was an essential element of the crime and the defendant was not convicted of any other felonies, then the eighteen points should not be scored. The reasoning of the Galloway opinion supports Mr. Mobley's argument that the eighteen points should not have been scored in his case.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal considered this issue in Gardner v. State, 661 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). In Gardner, the defendant was convicted of trafficking in cocaine, possession of marijuana with intent to sell, and carrying a concealed firearm. The firearm **was** secreted in Mr. Gardner's waist band of his trousers at the time he was committing the other two crimes. Gardner, 661 So. 2d at 1275.

In Gardner, eighteen points had been assessed for possession of a firearm pursuant to Rule 3.702(d)(12). The Gardner Court rejected Mr. Gardner's argument that the eighteen points should not be scored because a firearm was an essential element of the crime of carrying a concealed firearm. The Gardner Court construed Rule 3.702(d)(12) to allow the scoring of the eighteen points because it provided that the points should be assessed when a person committed "any felony." In **Mr.** Gardner's case, "any felony" included the offenses of trafficking in cocaine and possession of marijuana with the intent to sell. (Emphasis added.) Gardner, 661 So. 2d at 1275.

Mr. Mobley believes that the Gardner Court did not address the exact issue being raised in his case. Furthermore, Mr. Mobley believes that it is implied, but not directly stated in Gardner, that if the only offenses a defendant is convicted of are felonies where a firearm is an essential element of the crimes and no other substantive offenses are involved, then the eighteen points should not be scored. Essentially, on this issue, ~~Gardner~~ and ~~Galloway~~ would appear to be in agreement.

Prior to its ruling in Mr. Mobley's case, the Second District Court of Appeal addressed a similar issue in State v. Davidson, 666 so. 2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Mr. Davidson had been convicted of carrying a concealed firearm. The State wanted twenty-five points scored because the firearm was a semiautomatic weapon. Davidson, 666 So. 2d at 942.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.702(d) (12) provides:

...Twenty-five sentence points shall be assessed where the offender is convicted of committing or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 775.087(2) while having in his or her possession a semiautomatic weapon as defined in subsection 775.087(2) or a machine gun as defined in subsection 790.001(9).

In Davidson, the trial judge declined to score the twenty-five points. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial judge. In doing so, the Davidson Court rejected the double jeopardy argument and the argument that the scoring of the additional points **was** an improper enlargement of the sentence solely as a result of an essential element of the underlying offense; i.e., the firearm. Davidson, 666 So. 2d at 942.

Davidson can be distinguished from the issue in Mr. Mobley's case. A semiautomatic weapon or a machine gun is not per se an essential element of the crime of carrying a concealed firearm. Although a semiautomatic weapon or a machine gun is a firearm, it is a valid sentencing consideration to enhance the punishment an offense may carry due to the nature of the firearm. Machine guns and semiautomatic weapons pose a special danger to society, and

increased punishment for their possession may be valid without offending double jeopardy or other prohibitions.

However, as in Mr. Mobley's case, the enhancement of punishment for a crime such as possession of a firearm by a convicted felon because of a factor which is an essential element of the crime is improper. The scoring of the eighteen points would amount to multiple or enhanced punishment for the same offense in violation of double jeopardy protections. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which is enforceable against the State of Florida through the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, forbids multiple punishment for the same offense. Lippman v. State, 633 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1994). Additionally, Article I, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution provides defendants with at least as much protection from double jeopardy as is provided by the United States Constitution. Wright v. State, 586 So. 2d 710 (Fla. 1991).

Mr. Mobley's offense, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, requires possession of a firearm as an essential element of the crime. Double jeopardy has been found to be a bar to adjudicate a defendant guilty for possession of a firearm during commission of a felony where other counts are enhanced for use of the same firearm. Cleveland v. State, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991); Clarrington v. State, 636 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

In Gonzalez v. State, 585 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that where a firearm is an essential element of the crime for which the defendant is convicted, the sentence cannot be enhanced

because of the use of a firearm. In Gonzalez, the defendant was found guilty of third-degree murder with a firearm, a second-degree felony\* The trial judge enhanced the charge to a first-degree felony because of the use of a firearm. Gonzalez v. State, 585 So. 2d at 933. This Court reversed the trial court, relying upon the reasoning of then Judge Anstead's dissenting opinion in Gonzalez v. State, 569 So. 2d 782 at 784-85 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). See also, Lareau v. State, 573 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1991).

Consequently, the scoring of eighteen points on the guidelines scoresheet in Mr. Mobley's case is an error. Mr. Mobley should not have to serve an additional eighteen months in prison where his possession of a firearm is an essential element of the crime for which he was convicted. Mr. Mobley's possession of a firearm in his offense is already factored into his sentence by what degree of felony it is classified and by what offense severity ranking each offense receives (possession of a firearm by a convicted felon--second-degree felony--level five offense severity ranking). Therefore, Mr. Mobley should be given a new sentencing hearing based on a guidelines scoresheet that does not include eighteen points for possession of a firearm.

### CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the trial court and the Second District Court of Appeal. Mr. Mobley's case should be remanded for a new sentencing hearing. This Court should instruct the trial court to prepare a new guidelines scoresheet without scoring the eighteen points for possession of a firearm and sentence Mr. Mobley according to the sentencing guidelines.