IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PALED SIDUL WHITE NOV 10 1997

IOE	T	MOBLEY,
JUL	L.	MODLE I.

Petitioner.

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Dooutly Clerk

Case No. 91,528

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERTA.BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 175130
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE I
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ASSESSING EIGHTEEN POINTS ON THE GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR POSSESSION OF A FIREARM WHEN THE FIREARM IS ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS O F THE CRIME FOR WHICH THE PETITIONER! WAS BEING SENTENCED, IN THIS CASE POSSESSION OF A FIREARM BY A CONVICTED FELON? (RESTATED)
CONCLUSION ,
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 8

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u> <u>Page No.</u>
<u>Capers v. State</u> , 678 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1996)
Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)
Gardner v. State, 661 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)
Gonzalez v. State, 585 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1991) 6
Lamont v. State, 610 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1992) 5'
<u>Smith v. State.,</u> 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996)
<u>State v. Davidson,</u> 666 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)
<u>Thaver v. State</u> , 335 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1976)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.703(d)(19) (1996)
Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.702(d)(12)
Section 775.07(2)
Section 775.087(1)
Section 775.087(2)
Section 921.0014(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995 & 1996)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in scoring eighteen points on the guidelines scoresheet for possession of a firearm even though possession of a firearm was an essential element of the felony for which the petitioner was convicted (possession of a firearm by a convicted felon). The offense in question was not one of the felonies specifically exempted from the assessment of the points as set forth in s. 921.0014(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995 & 1996) or under Fla. R. Crim. Pro 3.703(d)(19) (1996). Had the legislature desired to exempt felonies for which possession of a firearm was an essential element it could have done so.

The statute and the rule exempt only those felonies enumerated in s. 775.087(2). That statute, s. 775.087, also provides in subsection (1) for the exemption of felonies for which possession of a firearm is an essential element. By including only those felonies enumerated in s. 775.087(2), the general doctrine of statutory construction that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of an another, *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, is applicable to the instant case. The Fourth District Court of Appeals statutory construction to the contrary in Galloway v. State, 680 So.2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) was unwarranted and unnecessary because the language of the legislature was clear and unambiguous.

Petitioner's double jeopardy argument is also without merit. The fact that possession of a firearm is an essential element of the offense of possession of a firearm be a convicted felon, does not prevent the legislature from authorizing that additional points be added to the sentencing guidelines scoresheet which could result in the imposition of a prison sentence. There is no **reclassification** of the felony to a higher degree nor any enhancement of the maximum penalty for the offense.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ASSESSING EIGHTEEN POINTS ON THE GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR POSSESSION OF A FIREARM WHEN THE FIREARM IS ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS O F THE CRIME FOR WHICH THE PETITIONER & WAS BEING SENTENCED, IN THIS CASE POSSESSION OF A FIREARM BY A CONVICTED FELON? (RESTATED)

The trial court did not err in assessing eighteen points for possession of firearm based upon petitioner's conviction of the offense of felon in possession of a firearm. The eighteen points were assessed pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro 3.703.09(d)(19) (1996) provides in pertinent part:

Possession of a firearm, semiautomatic firearm, or machine gun during the commission or attempt to commit a crime will result in additional sentence points. Eighteen sentence points are assessed if the offender is convicting of commuting or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 27082(2) while having in his or her possession a firearm as defined in subsection 790.001(6). (emphasis added)

This rule tracks the language of s. 921.0014(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995 &1996) which states in pertinent part:

Possession of a firearm, semiautomatic firearm, or machine gun: If the offender is convicted of committing or attempting commit any felony other than those enumerated in s. 775.087(2) while having in his possession: a firearm as defined in 790.001(6), an additional eighteen points are assessed,

Petitioner acknowledges in his brief that the felony for which he was convicted, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, is not one the felonies enumerated in s. 775.087(2). See petitioner's brief at page 4. Petitioner argues that

to assess the eighteen points is both a violation of double jeopardy and alternatively that the statute/rule relied upon to justify the additional points implicitly rejects the assessment where the firearm is an essential element of the crime.

Petitioner relies upon the case of Galloway v. State, 680 So.2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). However, even the Fourth District in Galloway, id., rejected the double jeopardy argument. The court in Galloway, id., was merely of the opinion that rule 3.702(d)(12) [now rule 3.703(d)(19)] is inapplicable to the offenses of carrying a concealed firearm or possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, when those offenses are unrelated to the commission of any additional substantive offense. Id.

The Galloway court gives no legal analysis to support its conclusion. Respondent submits that there is no logical analysis to support this legal conclusion by the Galloway 3.703(d)(19) does not make any exception for any felonies except those provided for in s. 775.087(2). Possession of a firearm by a convicted felon is not one of the felonies excepted under s. 775.087(2).

The legislature could easily have provided in s. **921.0014(** 1) **(b)** that not only would those felonies enumerated in s. 775.07(2) be excepted from assessment of 18 additional points but also any felony "in which a firearm is an essential element" as provided for by s. 775.087(1). The legislature was obviously aware of the existence of s. 775.087(1) when it made the assessment of additional sentencing points exempt only from those felonies set forth in s. 775.087(2). If the legislature intended to exclude offenses where the possession of a firearm is an essential element it should have expressly done so as it did in \$.775.087(1). course, a general principle of statutory construction that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another; expressio unius est exclusio alterius. " Thaver y. **State**, 335 So. 2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976). **Cf. Capers v. State**, 678 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1996).

Furthermore, the Fourth District's resort to statutory construction in Galloway7 supraits reasoning that, "[w]e construe rule 3.702(d)12 [now 3.703(d) 19] as inapplicable to convictions of these two offenses [carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon] when unrelated to the commission of any other offense." was unnecessary and unwarranted when the rule is rule is clear and unambiguous, As this court stated in Lamont v. State, 610 So.2d 435, at 437 (Fla. 1992):

Where, as here, the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous the language should be given effect without resort to extrinsic guides to constructron, As we have repeatedly noted:

"[e]ven where a court is convinced that the legislature really meant and intended something not expressed in the phraseology of the act, it will not deem itself authorized to depart from the plam meaning of the language which is free from am buity." (Chations omitted)

Petitioner's attempt to construe the Fifth District's ruling in <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 66 1 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) as implying that the term "any felony" requires that the defendant must be up for sentencing for offenses other than those in which possession of a firearm is an <u>essential</u> element (in <u>Gardner</u> the defendant possessed a concealed firearm while committing offenses of possession of marijuana and <u>trafficking</u> in cocaine) is without merit. The Fifth District made it clear in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 683 So, 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) where the defendant was charged only with the offense of possession of a <u>firearm</u> by a convicted felon that it adopted the reasoning of the Second District Court of Appeals in that court's reasoning in <u>State v. Davidson</u>, 666 So.2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995):

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.702 !()(12) provides for 18 additional points for possessing a firearm if the defendant is convicted of a felony not enumerated in section 775.087(2). Possession of a firearm by a convicted felon is not one 'of the enumerated felonies. In *Gardner v. State*, 661 So, 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), we held that the meaning of rule 3.702(d)(12) was clear and that any felony not enumerated was subject to having the additional 18 points assessed because a handgun was involved, Therefore, the assessment of 18 additional points was proper *Accord State v. Davidson*,666 So. 2d 941, 942 (Fla. 2d DCA' 1995) (holding that the rule simply distinguishes between types of firearms, and manifests nothing more than legislative recognition of the need to deter through enhanced punishment the use of firearms and their potential for the infliction of sever injury during the commission of criminal acts.

Id. at 579.

Petitioner's **final** argument is that since a firearm is an essential element of the crime of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, the assessment of 18 points is a double jeopardy violation, Appellant's double jeopardy argument lacks legal merit. His reliance upon <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1991) is misplaced as that case if factually distinguishable. In <u>Gonzalez</u>, **id**, at 933, this court held that the use of a firearm could not be used to <u>reclassify</u> the defendant's conviction for aggravated battery with a firearm from a felony of the second degree to a felony of the first degree. It the instant case, petitioner's conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon is not being reclassified from a felony of the second degree to a felony of the first degree. In the instant case his maximum punishment is not being enhanced; it remains at 15 years for a second degree felony. All that is being done is to add points to guidelines scoresheet to determine what, if any prison sentence, can be imposed.

A similar argument was made to this Court in the case of <u>Capers v. State</u>, supra. In that case the defendant argued that it was improper to depart from the

guidelines due to a legislatively authorized departure reason of vulnerability of the victim due to age, when vulnerability due to age is an essential element of the crime of capital sexual battery on child less than 12 and lewd and lascivious assault on a child under the age of 16. **Capers**, *id.* at 332. This Court rejected the argument that double counting of an element of the crime as an aggravating circumstance violated double jeopardy. As this Court reasoned:

Capers also argues that the double counting of an element of a crime as an aggravating circumstance violates constitutional principles. We find no merit to this claim. As we stated in State v. Smith, "the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more then prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater pumshment than the legislature intended." 547 50.2d 6 B, 614 (Fla. 1989) (quoting Missouri' v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S. Ct. 673, 678, 74 L.Ed2d 535 (1983). Here, the legislature clearly gave the trial courts the discretion to consider the victim's vulnerability due to age in the sentencing process as long as the sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum.

Id. at 333.

This reasoning is equally applicable to the instant case. The legislature clearly intended to have additional points added to a person convicted on any felony involving the use of a firearm unless it was a felony specifically enumerated in **s**. 775.087(2). Petitioner's felony is not one of the enumerated felonies. The intent of the legislature is obvious here. It is to increase the possibility of a prison sentence in any offense in which there is a firearm. It is not increasing the statutory maximum sentence for the felony nor is it requiring a minimum mandatory sentence. The purpose of the rule is to deter through the possibility of prison sentence the potential for violence and injury whenever a firearm is possessed during the commission of a felony.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, respondent respectfully requests that this Court resolve the conflict between the Fourth District and the Second District Courts of Appeal by **affirming** the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal.